Joint Meeting of the Town Council and Planning
Commission Agenda
October 15", 2025 @ 7:00 pm
VIA CONFERENCE CALL & Town Hall
141 Main St, Townsend, DE 19734

7:00 pm Joint Meeting

L

.
V.

VL.
Vil.

VIIL

Call to Order:
A. Town Council Mayor S.
Lobdell
B. Planning Commission Chair
Troy Geiger
Opening Ceremonies
A. Roll Call:

B. Pledge of Allegiance

Town Meetings will be held both in person and in a virtual format.

Those wishing to attend virtualty may dial 1{301)715-8592 When directed; provide
following meeting ID 827- 6421-7575# and then the following password 361631# to
enter the meeting. If you choose to access the meeting online click the following link:
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/82764217575?pwd=aHI4RDhTZ0xiME 1HV0ZOcHRxS
HZ3QT09

Residents will be able to view documents posted to the meeting tab on the Town
website at https://townsend.delaware.gov or by joining the meeting via computer,

C. Recognition of Visitors:

D. Announcements:
General Citizen Comments

Review/Adoption of Agenda

JOINT BUSINESS (Town Council & Planning Commission)

A. ACTION ITEM: Discussion and Review with potential vote of approval of Major Subdivision

“Interfaith Housing- Gray Street” Initial Application

B. ACTION ITEM: Discussion and Review of Future Growth map of the Town as it relates to the 5

year comp plan updates.

Recess Council Meeting to Convene Executive Session.

Convene Executive Session: Pursuant to 29 Del. C. §§10004(b)(4)(9), the Town Council will

consider a motion to meet in an executive session for the discussion of potential litigation which

will include legal advice or opinions from an attorney-at-law and personnel matters.

Close Executive Session & Re-convene Council Meeting.

PLANNING COMMISSION BUSINESS

A. ACTION ITEM: Discussion and review with potential vote of recommendation of annexation

for 6073 Summit Bridge Road.

B. ACTION ITEM: Discussion and Review of Chapter 24 potential edits for lot consolidation.

Discussion of future agenda items.

Discussion regarding next meeting date.

Adjournment.

Page 1 of 1




TOWN OF TOWNSEND

141 Main Street
Townsend, DE 19734

APPLICATION FOR SUBDIVISION AND/OR
LAND DEVELOPMENT

1. Applicant

Name: Interfaith Community Housing of Delaware INC.

Address:
613 N. Washington St

Wilmington, DE 19801

Email: cbowers@ichde.org

2. Name of Subdivision or Development
Interfaith Community Housing - Gray Street

3. Owner
Name: Interfaith Community Housing of Delaware INC.

Address:
613 N. Washington St

Wilmington, DE 19801

Phone: (302 ) 652 _ 3991 Fax: ( ) .

Email: cbowers@ichde.org

P.O. Box 223 - 141 Main Street - Townsend, DE 19734
Phone (302) 378-8082 : Fax: (302) 378-7099 - www.townsend.delaware.gov -
townhall@townsend.delaware.gov

Revised 2022 AMT
1of3



4. Application Type: Minor Land Development []

TOWN OF TOWNSEND

141 Main Street
Townsend, DE 19734

(Use Checklist Form 1)

Minor Subdivision M

Major Land Development [ Major Subdivision [

(Use Checklist Form 2)

5. Property Information

a. Property Address:

307,309,311 Gray Street and 0 Poplar Street

Parcel [D: 2500100041, 2500100042, 2500100043, 2500100051
Total Area (AC): 139 Number of Lots: 8
R2

Existing Zoning:

Present Use: Vacant or SFD

Proposed Use: SFD

d. Water: Public ®m On-Site o Sewer: Public m On-Site O

6. Plan information:

a.

b.

Title of Plans: Interfaith Community Housing - Gray Street

Number of Sheets: 1 Date of Plans: 06 /25

2025

Name of Project Preparer: €raig M. Lynch

Preparer Address:
200 Continental Drive

Suite 400

Newark, DE 19713

Preparer Phone: 302-323-9377 Preparer Fax:

Preparer Email : ClynCh@ka| mcreed.com

P.0O. Box 223 - 141 Main Street - Townsend, DE 19734

Phone (302) 378-8082 - Fax: (302) 378-7099 - www.townsend.delaware.gov -

townhall@townsend.delaware.gov

Revised 2022 AMT
20f3



TOWN OF TOWNSEND

141 Main Street
Townsend, DE 19734

9. Provide Proof of Ownership in conjunction with this application. (DEED)

10. Fees to be paid per the Townsend Subdivision & Land Development Fee Schedule:

Required Fee: $5,305 Received by Town?: No o Yes O

Date Received: / / Received by:

11. Signatures / ) .
Applicant: / Date: ‘i/ a‘-lfv// a7
Print Name: /( AL / én.- p&' Y @-Title: L\&Q[LMU ; ’ ’e% /)4“'?”(5—«4\.

/. :

Vs / = P /,
Owner: - / .= Date: ““/ ,-L/ /f §
7 ;: 7 7
- ! \ x
Print Namez / Nn ;3,«'.' # Title: ;@!,{,f m; p,(ﬁ,,c ;«; o /”W“\’,«;\,

APPLICATION CHECKLIST

(For Town of Townsend Use Only)

1. This Completed Application For Subdivision and/or
Land Development Form

Form 1/ Form 2 Checklist

Copy of Property Deed(s)

Application Fee

Subdivision and/or Land Development Plans (10 copies)
2 Copies of studies/reports

R

P.0.Box 223 - 141 Main Street - Townsend, DE 19734
Phone (302) 378-8082 - Fax: (302) 378-7099 - www.townsend.delaware.gov -
townhall@townsend.delaware.gov

Revised 2022 AMT
3of3



l

LR

Parcel Nos. :
P 13f8 F$1 5 ;32042973 - 25-001.00-051
Michael £ Kozikowski 2?223%3?30%?&1 -~ 25-001.00-041
New Castle Recorder

NC: $0.00 : $0.00 State: so.og -25-001.00-032-
. - x4 ~25-001.00-042
~25-001.00-043
~25-001.00-049
<25-001.00-017
14-015.00-041
~25-001.00-265

Prepared by:

Ward & Taylor, LLC

2710 Centerville Road, Suite 200
Wilmington, DE 19808

' 2023-0899

Return to:

Interfaith Community Housing of Delaware, Inc.
613 N. Washington Street

Wilmington, DE 19801

T HIS DEED made this Z; day of June, in the year Two Thousand Twenty-Three,

(2023),

B E T WEEN Miles P Jones, Jr., of New Castle County and the State of Delaware, party
of the first part,

AND

Interfaith Community Housing of Delaware, Inc., a Delaware non-
profit corporation, party of the second part,

WITNESSETH, that the said party of the first part, for and in consideration of the sum of
TEN AND 00/100 DOLLARS ($10.00) and other good and valuable consideration, lawful
money of the United States of America, the receipt whereof is hereby acknowledged, hereby

grants and conveys unto the said party of the second part, its successors and assigns, in fee
simple:



0 Poplar St.. Townsend 19734 / 25-001.00-051

ALL that certain tract, piece or parcel of land with the buildings thereon erected, situate in the
Town of Townsend, New Castle County and State of Delaware, known as 0 Poplar Street, and
being more particularly bounded and described in accordance with a recent survey by The
PELSA Company, project P-4749, as follows, to wit:

Beginning at a point along the westerly side of lands now or formerly of Rickie Clark and Susan
Clark, tax parcel 25-001.00-039, said point being a comer of the lot herein being described and
lands now or formerly of Phillip J. Simmons, tax parcel 25-001.00-040 and further located the
following two (2) courses and distances from the intersection of the northerly side of Gray Street
and the westerly side of South Street: 1) South 56 degrees 59 minutes 03 seconds West, 93.65
feet; 2) North 42 degrees 46 minutes 18 seconds West, 129.82 feet to the point and place of
Beginning; Thence, along 305 Gray Street, 307 Gray Street, 309 Gray Street and 311 Gray Street,
in part, the following three (3) courses and distances: 1) South 56 degrees 59 minutes 41 seconds
East, 226.46 feet; 2) North 25 degrees 02 minutes 45 seconds West, 31.54 feet; South 63 degrees
48 minutes 39 seconds West, 55.03 feet to a point at a corner of lands now or formerly County
Real Estate & Business Development, LLC, tax parcel 25-001.00-046;Thence, thereby, North 27
degrees 10 minutes 21 seconds West, 101.74 feet to a point along the southerly side of Poplar
Street; Thence, thereby, North 64 degrees 46 minutes 00 seconds East, 250.23 feet to a point at a
corner of lands now or formerly of Rickie Clark and Susan Clark, tax parcel
25-001.00-039;Thence, thereby, South 42 degrees 57 minutes 50 seconds East, 106.75 feet to the
point and place of Beginning. Containing with said metes and bounds description 0.696 acres of
land, be the same more or less.

BEING the same land and premises that Earl L. Davis and Ethel F. Davis a/k/a Ethel S. Davis, by
deed dated 01/10/1986 and recorded 1/16/1986 in the Office of the Recorder of Deeds in and for
New Castle County, State of Delaware in Deed Book 156, Page 321, did grant and convey unto
Miles P. Jones, I, in fee.

307 Grav St.. Townsend. DE 19734 / Parcel 25-001.00-041

ALL that certain tract, piece or parcel of land with the buildings thereon erected, situate in the
Town of Townsend, New Castle County and State of Delaware, known as 307 Gray Street, and
being more particularly bounded and described in accordance with a recent survey by The
PELSA Company, project P-4749, as follows, to wit:

Beginning at a point along the northerly side of Gray Street, said point being a corner of the Jot
herein being described and lands now or formerly of Phillip J. Simmons, tax parcel
25-001.00-040, and further located South 56 degrees 59 minutes 03 seconds West, 181.23 feet
from the intersection of the northerly side of Gray Street and the westerly side of South Street;
Thence, continuing along Gray Street, South 56 degrees 59 minutes 03 seconds West, 79.94 feet
to a point at a corner of 309 Gray Street, tax parcel 25-001.00-042;Thence, thereby, North 27
degrees 26 minutes 44 seconds west, 128.73 feet to a point along 0 Poplar Street, tax parcel
25-001.00-051;Thence, thereby, North 56 degrees 59 minutes 41 seconds East, 67.19 feet to a



point at a corner of lands now or formerly of Phillip J. Simmons, tax parcel
25-001.00-040;Thence, thereby, South 33 degrees 07 minutes 07 seconds West, 128.11 feet to
the point and place of Beginning. Containing with said metes and bounds description 0.216 acres
of land, be the same more or less.

BEING the same land and premises that Joan L. Slaughter, George D. Lawrence and Peggy
Shetzler a/k/a Margaret L. Shetzler, by Frances F. Shetzler, Guardian, by deed dated 07/26/1989
and recorded 07/27/1989 in the Office of the Recorder of Deeds in and for New Castle County,
State of Delaware in Deed Book 903, Page 93, did grant and convey unto Miles P. Jones, Jr, in
fee.

308 Gray St.. Townsend, DE 19734 / Parcel 25-001.00-032

ALL that certain tract, piece or parcel of land with the buildings thereon erected, situate in the
Town of Townsend, New Castle County and State of Delaware, known as 308 Gray Street, and
being more particularly bounded and described in accordance with a recent survey by The
PELSA Company, project P-4749, as follows, to wit:

Beginning at a point along the southerly side of Gray Street, said point being a corner of the lot
herein being described and lands now or formerly of Leonard Wallace Jr. and Tina L Wallace,
tax parcel 25-001.00-055;Thence, along lands now or formerly of Leonard Wallace Jr. and Tina
L Wallace, tax parcel 25-001.00-055, South 33 degrees 56 minutes 13 seconds East, 146.59 feet
to a point at a corner of lands now or formerly of Tracy L. and Michael J. Smulski, tax parcel
25-001.00-030;Thence, thereby, the following two (2) courses and distances: 1) South 58 degrees
47 minutes 14 seconds West, 52.51 feet; 2) North 32 degrees 58 minutes 10 seconds West,
144.92 feet to a point along the southerly side of Gray Street; Thence, thereby, North 56 degrees
58 minutes 47 seconds East, 50.00 feet to the point and place of Beginning. Containing within
the said described metes and bounds 0.171 acres of land, be the same, more or less.

BEING the same land and premises that Bank of Delaware, a corporation of the State of
Delaware, by deed dated 08/09/1999 and recorded 08/09/1999 in the Office of the Recorder of
Deeds in and for New Castle County, State of Delaware in Deed Book 1214, Page 160, did grant
and convey unto Miles P. Jones, Jr, in fee.

309 Grav St., Townsend, DE 19734 / Parcel 25-001.00-042

ALL that certain tract, piece or parcel of land with the buildings thereon erected, situate in the
Town of Townsend, New Castle County and State of Delaware, known as 309 Gray Street, and
being more particularly bounded and described in accordance with a recent survey by The
PELSA Company, project P-4749, as follows, to wit:

Beginning at a point along the northerly side of Gray Street, said point being a comer of the lot
herein being described and 307 Gray Street, tax parcel 25-001.00-041, and further located South
56 degrees 59 minutes 03 seconds West, 261.18 feet from the intersection of the northerly side of
Gray Street and the westerly side of South Street; Thence, continuing along Gray Street, South 56
degrees 59 minutes 03 seconds West, 50.00 feet to a point at a corner of 311 Gray Street, tax



parcel 25-001.00-043;Thence, thereby, North 26 degrees 41 minutes 42 seconds West, 128.91
feet to a point along 0 Poplar Street, tax parcel 25-00100-051;Thence, thereby, North 56 degrees
59 minutes 41 seconds East, 48.30 feet to a point at a corner of 307 Gray Street, tax parcel
25-001.00-041;Thence, thereby, South 27 degrees 26 minutes 44 seconds East, 128.73 feet to the
point and place of Beginning. Be the contents thereof what they may.

BEING the same land and premises that Harvey G. Smith, Jr., Administrator of the Estate of
Charles F. McClay, by deed dated 12/01/1989 and recorded 12/01/1989 in the Office of the
Recorder of Deeds in and for New Castle County, State of Delaware in Deed Book 962, Page
293, did grant and convey unto Miles P. Jones, Jr, in fee.

311 Gray St., Townsend 19734/ 25-001.00-043

ALL that certain tract, piece or parcel of land with the buildings thereon erected, situate in the
Town of Townsend, New Castle County and State of Delaware, known as 311 Gray Street, and
being more particularly bounded and described in accordance with a recent survey by The
PELSA Company, project P-4749, as follows, to wit:

Beginning at a point along the northerly side of Gray Street, said point being a corner of the lot
herein being described and 309 Gray Street, tax parcel 25-001.00-042, and further located South
56 degrees 59 minutes 03 seconds West, 311.18 feet from the intersection of the northerly side of
Gray Street and the westerly side of South Street; Thence, continuing along Gray Street, South 56
degrees 59 minutes 03 seconds West, 97.98 feet to a point at a corner of lands now or formerly of
Townsend Real Estate & Business Developement, tax parcel 25-001.00-044;Thence, thereby,
North 27 degrees 10 minutes 21 seconds West, 166.78 feet to a point at a corner of 0 Poplar
Street, tax parcel 25-001.00-051;Thence, thereby, the following three (3) courses and distances:
1) North 63 degrees 48 minutes 39 seconds East, 55.03 feet; 2) South 25 degrees 02 minutes 45
seconds East, 31.54 feet; 3) North 56 degrees 59 minutes 41 seconds East, 44.92 feet to a point at
a comner of 309 Gray Street, tax parcel 25-001.00-042;Thence, thereby, South 26 degrees 41
minutes 42 seconds East, 128.91 feet to the point and place of Beginning. Containing within said
metes and bounds description 0.333 acres of land, be the same, more or less.

BEING the same land and premises that Walter S. Warrington and Pauline M. Warrington, his
wife, by deed dated 11/21/1978 and recorded 11/21/1978 in the Office of the Recorder of Deeds
in and for New Castle County, State of Delaware in Deed Record Q, Volume 103, Page 341, did
grant and convey unto Miles P. Jones, Jr, in fee.

O Walnut, Townsend/ 25-001.00-049

ALL that certain tract, piece or parcel of land with the buildings thereon erected, situate in the
Town of Townsend, New Castle County and State of Delaware, known as 0 Walnut Street, being
more particularly bounded and described in accordance with a recent survey by The PELSA
Company, project P-4749, as follows, to wit:



Beginning at a point along the easterly side of Walnut Street, said point being a corner of the lot
herein being described and lands now or formerly of Kevin M. and Kelly Ann Tobin and further
located North 25 degrees 24 minutes 55 seconds West, 99.27 West, 99.27 feet from the
intersection of the easterly side of Walnut Street and the northerly side of Poplar Street; Thence,
along the easterly side of Walnut Street, North 25 degrees 24 minutes 55 seconds West, 238.67
feet to a point at a corner of lands now or formerly Miles P. Jones, tax parcel 14-015.00-041;
Thence, thereby, North 64 degrees 53 minutes 57 seconds East, 79.24 feet to a point along Public
Open Space, Townsend Village II; Thence, thereby, South 55 degrees 09 minutes 55 seconds
East, 389.75 feet to a point along the northerly side of Poplar Street; Thence, along Poplar Street,
South 64 degrees 46 minutes 00 seconds West, 122.29 feet to a point at a corner of lands now for
formerly C & T DE Properties, LLC; Thence, along lands now for formerly C & T DE
Properties, LLC, in part, and along lands now or formerly of Kevin M. and Kelly Ann Tobin, in
part, North 25 degrees 24 minutes 55 seconds West, 100 feet to a point at a corner of ands now or
formerly of Kevin M. and Kelly Ann Tobin;Thence, thereby, South 64 degrees 35 minutes 05
seconds West, 150.24 feet to the point and place of Beginning. Be the contents thereof what they
may.

BEING a part of the same land and premises that Earl L. Davis and Ethel F. Davis a/k/a Ethel S.
Davis, by deed dated 01/10/1986 and recorded 01/16/1986 in the Office of the Recorder of Deeds
in and for New Castle County, State of Delaware in Deed Book 329, Page 226, did grant and
convey unto Miles P. Jones, Jr, in fee.

550 and 554 Walnut Street, Townsend /25-001.00-017

ALL that certain tract, piece or parcel of land with the buildings thereon erected, situate in the
Town of Townsend, New Castle County and State of Delaware, known as 550 & 554 Walnut
Street, being more particularly bounded and described in accordance with a recent survey by The
PELSA Company, project P-4749, as follows, to wit:

Beginning at a point along the westerly side of Walnut Street, said point being further located the
following two (2) courses and distances from the intersection of the northerly side of Poplar
Street and the easterly side of Walnut Street: 1) North 25 degrees 24 minutes 55 seconds West,
337.93 feet; 2) crossing Walnut Street, South 64 degrees 36 minutes 19 seconds West, 30.00 feet
to the point and place of Beginning; Thence, along the westerly side of Walnut Street, South 25
degrees 24 minutes 55 seconds East, 156.86 feet to a point at a corner of lands now or formerly
of Amy Gordon, tax parcel 25-001.00-018;Thence, thereby, South 65 degrees 42 minutes 42
seconds West, 134.73 feet to a point; Thence, North 24 degrees 26 minutes 45 seconds West,
154.96 feet to a point; Thence, North 64 degrees 53 minutes 57 seconds East, 132.08 feet to the
point and place of Beginning. Be the contents thereof what they may.

BEING a part of the same land and premises that Earl L. Davis and Ethel F. Davis a/k/a Ethel S.
Davis, by deed dated 01/10/1986 and recorded 01/16/1986 in the Office of the Recorder of Deeds
in and for New Castle County, State of Delaware in Deed Book 329, Page 226, did grant and
convey unto Miles P. Jones, Jr, in fee.



Pursuant to 25 Del. C. Section 135, the grantor and the grantee hereunder do hereby acknowledge
that the parcel or parcels conveyed hereunder, or a portion of the same, may be subject to a tax
ditch right of way and/or assessment, or a tax lagoon right of way and/or assessment pursuant to
an Order of the Superior Court of the State of Delaware, recorded in the Office of the Recorder
of Deeds, New Castle County, Delaware.

SUBJECT TO ALL covenants, conditions, restrictions and easements of record.

In addition to the lands described above, Party of the First Part hereby quitclaims, remises and
releases unto the Party of the Second Part all of his right, title and interest that he may have in
and to those two certain parcels of land known as Tax Parcel Nos: 25-001.00-265 (formerly
14-15.00-040) and 14-015.00-041 as depicted on that certain Boundary Survey Plan prepared for
Interfaith Community Housing of Delaware by the PELSA Company attached hereto as Exhibit
"A" and incorporated herein by this reference. The Party of the First Part has occupied and used
said parcels for over twenty (20) years and never had his claim of ownership or his use of the
parcels challenged by any party.

GRANTEE'S ADDRESS
613 N. Washington Street
Wilmington, DE 19801




IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Grantor has set his hand and seal the day and year first above

written.

Witness

STATE OF DELAWARE )
)SS.
COUNTY OF NEW CASTLE )

(SEAL)

Miles P. Jodes, Ir. ©

The foregoing Deed was acknowledged before me this jj& day of June, 2023, by Miles

P. Jones, Jr.
W (}A
\\\\ \,\F\M & ///_/
\\\Q\\\’ ------------ "N :
T 357 Notary Public
S {amon 10z Printed Name:
= s‘smrsg;"E”TLéw i = 2 ] S e
= 4 DElawarst = My commission expires:
Zoh, 3
TR O F
717 S SEC 433" N
LTI

To
Date

I b u € STL
NIA

Paid A MUDE

Town Ofﬁc:a{,\li N\ #3 )



g 4 e i B

i
ftin

N 4
g
E Y é\ﬁ
: e RS
g i; g Ty g \_:";3,:?.} N ;}3 009
g E g [ 2 \’ §‘A‘ g 6“"
e ‘ 3 Y
|5 =,
5 ﬂ > | A \‘ S;‘/ &99
[E] i! H \
H 3 &) . g
l % < e
i -~ 05
b £ a0
l' S W
b 33
t ¥ 5 ¥
JIRNL
P B
Ri (RS
il 3 i1
H g !
i E L§ — -
5 ! i 2 Sg—
I
5| ;
BQUNDAE.‘I’ SU&RVEY PLAN THE
[NTERFAITH COMMUNITY HOUSING OF DELAWARE A COMPARY
ST 0RI08 3 411 BRAY STREET, ENGINEERING, SURVEYTNG, ENVIZONMENTAL SCTENCES
O WALNUT STREET & 550 & 554 WALNUT STREET 610 PEOPLES PLAZA, KEWARK. DE 1572 i
Mk ma e TS rswrane: s i s e




ENUEIITN ¥ BN ORI D

2 A
Hl ) -|3[B
EA A " v vl 210 41504 103108
X HHE ake . WSO8 INOLTND 5968 752 004 | SHCH AL S
N 1P nok aijeq )
D3 *MO[3 sEYM Mouy
b Ll il & ..g!.Mum.. 02 =4 3108
H m R WA NI
o 3 fuiz awcz
HE £ g N o5t 37 o imata
5 = ¢ =Ll i s L FEusauLaT
g 2 tg 1SNHL ONVT ZIESIE INIWAD AT "INTNOI1INFO SSANISNE
2 SSENISNE T ALVLS2 TTU ONISNADL i ¥ 2183 TV AINOD |
T e [ o _ _ -
umm 1z m mmm i — eu T e T
f £ | e ! S Ir et
33088 45 LR a4 aaB0H0d 5] SThneetRR ] L. 2
FEIAl ﬁ umwnm, & ig [
8334 11 | Gdetes gL — i — (aa e g 3k w0oa = s o ot
R 7Y b == ] oI | -
: 2 4 = £ HE T = ST %00
i34 H | 1AM 4 0300w " ) A 3 ot v 130 e
INVEIAH S8 ONLLSED o ) 7 | g m _ 005 - STOVICO) 1450000 VA SNTIIN (TS00m
& 4009 e 000 v aian ovansict
NSV HALYD OHY HIVHO W09 T3S00HS ﬁm n oot oo e owien
ISVE HOLYD OVY NIVHO HOLS ONUSE 13— q P, D E | o000 (0
R o A Vi pema TR ot
VAV UG Y] 035000M e e e B 7 ik § 1
> (4 g s a0
Y ININIOVNN HELVNEOIE (IEOAOM ¢ ¢ o e & B N VA 157 SECUD SML 40 408 UHIETA LON TIAIS 1) HOVA HOE FEVHAND SO i
sovar s s oo ——— ——— k § —
H ! 4 ] UMY NS S NI ISVINOY ST SN NS L N . S
] 2 & e b DIRLAIZD 35 5a50GUNG FHL B4 GUS THL DI SSIOEV A0 IMOR FML SVH ALNDOD TUSVD M3H OF
5 g3 B SR R e~ s _ % 15 SAL HO4 SN0 DRIL B3 (TS AR ON Y S E
fiadig it ot ol R L -
{s:dn i A S S I "
§ sglzir ARV LT o OFIL 341 305 B NOILIZS W2 HELAVI ACRS NSS0N0 30 1B G30308
A ) HOLYATTE 1045 DMaLSDE | B siiponiaad _ | AL 01 35V e 3000 VAN GHSSIADL L 5 RLIDE v OISR WA A e
{ et °F . | PSP TRR! o inli SUCUIR] NS OO SRRDNRR SPSEN o e oy e B YRS vty 2
g wmmzm 3 Qy i) gl ¥omonz | | ‘ Hw o | 24 100 P 0 LK M
mw £ i omawaaasosons L | ————wa T S o T D | PRESIEE EOR PE  S <, i A
LI T P, | z T / 4
i PR et e M - ; §
q n 3
E| ShMaCE 5] canndond . | EEEEIEEET INVT HLIVIHILNI - .um .
e 2 | s
; DT s i
74 3411 03012 29 4 0N == =r= T — | T A = e = ) e
OHND 90 WHLBAONUSEE  — — — — ..« _
INTVA MLV ONY NV ALY O3E000MS e Sl ]
= ANTVA HALVA NV Y HI LM DNLLEDS BT —— bt g __ { i
: V104 30 INSAOL B0 B WOTIR SISSRY TV
aN3937 SMNUTE HD ALNYDT TUSYD TN THLAS TINTISSY 5¥ RNV SI5SRI0Y
32 | ARSI,
2 e Deewriow
z = ONY LNSMISE VA0 5OHINGS WANIWNOUIND ONY SIOHNOST WHALVN 40 INJWLNGID
5 Y e El S Ml A TS LSS MALVRANEL§ (Y TGHINGSY 10T Y HOIORA Towmven  c1
H = = L g i | &
Fo e o | . | 1 IO 40 L L 0 BRI 4L
wh - 2 ! OIVLINYE D SavE ¥ 19 TRV e
2 == = g pili g | VST TSk SR VAN DY 2
H - o § s \ P —
Lo, =T e & Lk 'Y g L - LNEHNTY (51001600 SAOUVIHOSMAIL 49 NN TAVIAG O RGN TS TV TV 5t
: il 4 _ [ l e
& | ¥ L i L 01 5 05 VLY 30 TV SYAMY SIRINLES 4 5 ARG S 14D LA AN 20 3%
2] 2 o
g 7 i
5 : nm_’ 2 ﬁ B LTS S5 SHE WD SAIL TV SIS THS OIS ML ADIVNISHA 13 T
g 8 1 3010 15063 0 o 3 o
R 7 % TR YT S04 S TV TENIAD 10 AT TS L SR TR T €4
= 2
B ! [ S —
n 1 o A TINGS N OBOTH 111 TONVEHONTN 1 T30V SIHL N S150C3 NI D001 HYAATNL 0N B
- ) i 2
g 2 » 5 I A e S
2 = ] 5 _ AT 'S IUHIIOND AV '€ 40 C 4TS 30 °ALNNOD TUSVD 13N HO VA VR 525 WY BIHL NO WIS 5 ‘DVEHT1IM
» d | 8 Al ot v B % AL OE1D01 ATIIHAG £1 3L 141 Tl YR MDLIRION BINPDEEY IV
o % g 133015, : e iR By i
PEQ g3 ) \ |2 P s S A 2 R B
529243 | ! » s s sycor o
I= 0z \ g . 41 N3 T SOV O SO T NOLLDITBRINE 0 3303651 LA L3 D1 £IIILON TGN
m=i0z | ; NSRS G (s 4 A0 SO VYA RS 13 G
g B E ] L 3 _ 151 M1 K 104 173 SRN09000s S HUM JINVROIS NI AAIVITEAD SV TS SIL SONVIITR, &
C oy sornir s 1 1 081 51 6100 3500
Z 28 it e £ s T SLILER
gdg i SNOWAIS. T dTTUHA i« " ,
QS \ - ¥
g _ 5
% e B \
iz s \ |~ |
g Q i o - VSRS ¥ HHVTD 30
5 o e an o
H [}
H
a2 Z
L HIVMVTIA

008=,} wconam | dYIN NOILVYDOT A RN ST AT A

e ¢

[

% i ewisne
D NS ADSONA WIS D
TE oY
THIS ETYR B TIAOD TIOMMYE A1 WS 54115003 MYRHIN

oD @

ONISNIOH ALINOWINOO HLIVAIHLNI =

,_ &WNA AINNOD FT1ISVO MEN - ANHSNMOL 40 NMOL fmpmmies it

o e
Eaivmnione o4 0 A 305
St N1 s LTS

404 Y

ISNASH 50 KM TN D DINGZ LS

NV1d HOLIIS R

srsorseR T 0 20008 T

#### ON NOLLVOI'lddV T e

-ESOCHONYI 15 AT IS e SLIS ONY GHOSSH 506033015 AV 196 2




Herminio TR Cisneros
553 Money Road
Townsend, DE 19734
P:-302-242-3305

September 12, 2025

Julie M. Goodyear
Town Manager

Town of Townsend
P.O.Box 223

141 Main Street
Townsend, DE 19734

Dear Town Council,

I, Herminio TR Cisneros, wish to have my property annexed into the Town limits of
Townsend Delaware and be zoned as C-Commercial. The Property is located at 6073
Summit Bridge Road Townsend, DE 19734, tax parcel number 140160006.

Sincerely, )

[

Herminio TR Cisneros



Kelsez Gallagher

From: Renee K. Bensley <RBensley@Newark.de.us>
Sent: Friday, September 5, 2025 9:12 AM

To: Julie Goodyear

Ce: Thomas Coleman

Subject: RE: CMAD All-call request

This message originated from outside the organization

Hi Julie — the City of Newark uses an administrative subdivision process to consolidate lots, move lot
lines, etc. It cannot be used to create new buildable lots. Details can be found in Section 27-19 of our
City Code linked here:
https://library.municode.com/de/newark/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeld=CD_ORD_CH275U_S27-
19SUPRAPPRDMSU.

I hope this is helpful. If you have any questions, please feel free to reach out.
Renee

Renee K. Bensley

Director of Planning and Development, City of Newark
302.366.7000 x2045 | 220 South Main Street [Newark, DE 19711
www.newarkde.gov | @CityofNewarkDE

If you are receiving this outside of normal business hours, please do not feel obligated to respond until
your regular workday.

From: Thomas Coleman <TColeman@Newark.de.us>
Sent: Friday, September 5, 2025 9:07 AM

To: Renee K. Bensley <RBensley@Newark.de.us>
Subject: FW: CMAD All-call request

Renee, see below from CMAD. | am assuming this would be our administrative subdivision process? Can
you share our information with them?

Thanks

Tom Coleman, PE, ICMA-CM

City Manager, City of Newark

302-366-7000 | 220 S. Main Street | Newark, DE 19711
www.newarkde.gov

From: Jamie Burk <jamieb@millsboro.org>

Sent: Friday, August 29, 2025 10:27 AM

Cc: Julie Goodyear <jgoodyear@townsend.delaware.gov>
Subject: FW: CMAD All-call request




Kelsez Gallagher

From: Kristy Rogers <KRogers@ci.milton.de.us>
Sent: Friday, August 29, 2025 1:44 PM

To: Jamie Burk

Cc: Julie Goodyear

Subject: RE: CMAD All-call request

This message originated from outside the organization

Hi Julie:

To follow is Milton’s Code on consolidation: https://ecode360.com/print/MI12821?guid=37313596

Kindly,
Mristg

Kristy L. Rogers, MPA, ICMA-CM
Town Manager

Town of Milton

115 Federal Street
Milton, DE 19968
P: 302-684-4110
F: 302-684-8999

NOTE: The information contained in this email message is privileged and confidential
intended only for the use of this individual named above. If the reader of this message is
not the intended recipient, distribution or copying of this communication is strictly
prohibited. If you have received this communication in error, please notify us immediately.

From: Jamie Burk <jamieb@millsboro.org>

Sent: Friday, August 29, 2025 10:27 AM

Cc: Julie Goodyear <jgoodyear@townsend.delaware.gov>
Subject: FW: CMAD All-call request

Good morning,
Please see the below All Call from Townsend.
Thanks,

Jamie Burk
Town Manager
Town of Millsboro



Kelsex Gallagher

From: Charles Anderson <CAnderson@seafordde.com>
Sent: Friday, August 29, 2025 11:15 AM

To: Jamie Burk

Cc: Julie Goodyear

Subject: Re: CMAD All-call request

Attachments: BP-50C55_20250829_100740.pdf

Follow Up Flag: Follow up

Flag Status: Flagged

This message originated from outside the organization
Julie,
Good morning.
Seaford's zoning ordinance addresses this as "reverse subdivisions" and the Building Official is permitted to
handle this administratively (it is exempt from the subdivision procedures). The property owner would just bring in
the survey with the lot line to be expunged and the Building Official would review it for conformance and stamp the
plans approved if acceptable. Then the property owner would have the survey recorded at the Sussex County
Recorder of Deeds.

See the attached code section - Article 6, Section 15.6.1 ¢ (3) for the specific language.

Hope that helps.

Charles Anderson, City Manager

From: Jamie Burk <jamieb@millsboro.org>

Sent: Friday, August 29, 2025 10:26 AM

Cc: Julie Goodyear <jgoodyear@townsend.delaware.gov>
Subject: FW: CMAD All-call request

Good morning,
Please see the below All Call from Townsend.

Thanks,

Jamie Burk

Town Manager

Town of Millsboro

322 Wilson Highway
Millsboro, Delaware 19966
(302)934-8171
(302)934-7682
jamieb@millsboro.org




Kelsex Gallagher

From: Joseph Hinks <inspector@southbethany.org>
Sent: Wednesday, September 3, 2025 10:32 AM
To: Julie Goodyear

Subject: Lot Combination South Bethany

agamon Technology Group LLC

Warning: Sender inspector@southbethany.org has never sent any emails to your organization.

Please be careful before replying or clicking on the URLs.
Report Phishing Remove Banner

powered by Graphus®

This message originated from outside the organization

Julie,

This is the relevant code for lot combinations for South Bethany. It’s a straightforward process, and as long
as no new non-conformities are created, then it's easily approved.

Lot combination Form:

https://southbethany.delaware.gov/files/2024/06/Land-Combining-Application. pdf

Town Code:

§ 116-6Combining of lots.

Combining of lots shall follow the procedure for approval by the Commission as outlined within this chapter.

§ 116-7Property line.

No existing property line shall be moved, relocated, extended or erased nor shall a new property line be created
without first obtaining approval of the Commission by the procedures outlined within this chapter.

Subdivisions of land shall be recorded in the office of the Recorder of Deeds, Sussex County, Delaware.

§ 116-9Plat filed in Town office.

An unreduced copy of the approved, recorded plat of all subdivisions shall be filed in the office of the Town of
South Bethany.



Kelsex Gallagher

From: Sheldon Hudson <shudson@frankford.delaware.gov>
Sent: Thursday, September 4, 2025 2:40 PM

To: Julie Goodyear

Subject: FW: Code

Attachments: Code Original.PDF

Importance: High

agamon Technology Group LLC

arning: Sender shudson@frankford.delaware.gov has never sent any emails to your organization.

Please be careful before replying or clicking/downloading the attachment and URLSs.
Report Phishing Remove Banner

powered by Graphus®
This message originated from outside the organization

Peryourrequest

Sheldon P. Hudson, ICMA-CM

Town Manager

Town of Frankford

9 Main Street, PO Box 550, Frankford, Delaware 19945
(302) 841-0189

shudson@frankford.delaware.gov

TOWN OF ———

FRANKFORD

WHERE BEACH AND COUNTRY MEET

Note my email address has changed. Please update your records.



Kelsez GaIIaEher

From: Brian Olszak <bolszak@georgetowndel.com>
Sent: Friday, August 29, 2025 1:46 PM

To: Julie Goodyear

Cc: Eugene Dvornick; Jamie Donaway

Subject: Re: CMAD All-call request

agamon Technology Group LLC

arning: Sender bolszak@georgetowndel.com has never sent any emails to your organization.

Please be careful before replying or clicking on the URLs.
Report Phishing Remove Banner

powered by Graphus®

This message originated from outside the organization

Hi Julie,

This is Brian Olszak, responding to your inquiry re: lot consolidations on behalf of the Town of
Georgetown.

What we do here in the Town is utilize an administrative approval for all "minor subdivisions": lot line
adjustments, lot consolidations, or subdivisions resulting in three lots or fewer. The site plan
requirements are fewer than a full-blown plan and do not require a Planning (and Zoning) Commission
review/approval, though there is a staff/reviewing engineer review. You can find our provisions for that
here: https://eco .com/6478078#6478090

Let me know if you'd like to chat more about it!

Thanks,
Brian

Brian J. Olszak

Community Development Director
Town of Georgetown

Phone: (302) 856-7391

Fax: (302) 856-6348

~ Town of

01;{6 own

Confidentiality Notice: The information contained in this e-mail communication and any attached documentation may be
privileged, confidential or otherwise protected from disclosure and is intended only for the use of the designated
recipient(s). It is not intended for transmission to, or receipt by, any unauthorized person. The use, distribution, transmittal
or re-transmittal by an unintended recipient of this communication is strictly prohibited without express approval in writing
or by e-mail. If you are not the intended recipient of this e-mail, please delete it from your system without copying it and

notify the above sender so that the e-mail address may be corrected.
1



Kelsex Gallagher

From: Stacey Long <townmanager@townofselbyville.org>
Sent: Friday, August 29, 2025 3:27 PM

To: Jamie Burk

Cc: Julie Goodyear

Subject: RE: EXTERNALFW: CMAD All-call request

This message originated from outside the organization

Good afternoon,

| have provided the following link to our code that addresses lot combining . Enjoy the holiday weekend.

Town of Selbyville, DE Code

Chapter 160: Subdivision of Land
§ 160-5: Partitioning; combining.
https://ecode360.com/6174770

-

Town Administrator
Town of Selbyville

1 W Church Street

PO Box 106

Selbyville, DE 19975
302-436-8314
https://selbyville.delaware.gcov/

NOTE: The information contained in this email message is privileged and confidential intended only
for the use of this individual named above. If the reader of this message is not the intended recipient,
distribution or copying of this communication is strictly prohibited. If you have received this
communication in error, please notify us immediately.



Kelsex Gallagher

From: James Reyes <jreyes@townsend.delaware.gov>
Sent: Tuesday, October 14, 2025 9:50 AM

To: Julie Goodyear

Subject: Reversing-parcels

Hi Julie,

I’ve been reading and experimenting with Chat GBT. Yes | know me of all people. Can you take a look at
this...

ORDINANCE NO.

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF TOWNSEND, DELAWARE

TO ESTABLISH STANDARDS, PROCEDURES, AND REQUIREMENTS FOR
REVERSE CONSOLIDATION (RECOMBINATION) OF RESIDENTIAL PARCELS

Section 1. Purpose and Authority

1.1. Purpose. The purpose of this Ordinance is to provide a clear, efficient and safe
procedure for the reverse consolidation (recombination) of residential lots and parcels
within the Town of Townsend. The ordinance is intended to: (a) allow the re-combination
of lots previously divided or recorded while protecting public health, safety and welfare;
(b) preserve orderly development and conformance with zoning and subdivision
standards; and (c) ensure accurate public records of land ownership and lot boundaries.

1.2. Authority. This Ordinance is adopted pursuant to the Town Charter and the authority
granted to the Town Council by the State of Delaware to regulate subdivision and
development of land.

(Modeled on standard municipal subdivision authority and statements used in
Middletown and Odessa ordinances.)



Section 2. Definitions

For this ordinance the following definitions apply:

« Consolidation / Recombination / Reverse Consolidation. The combining or re-
combining of two (2) or more previously subdivided and recorded lots or parcels
into one (1) or more resultant lots, provided the total number of lots is not increased
by the action and the action does not create additional building lots beyond what
the zoning and code permit. (Synonymous with “lot consolidation” or “lot
merger’’.)

« Administrative Subdivision. Transfer of property between two adjacent lots not
creating a new building lot and not requiring new public improvements.

« Minor Subdivision. A subdivision or adjustment that meets the Town’s minor
subdivision criteria (small number of lots, no new streets or public improvements
required).

« Applicant. Owner of record or authorized agent submitting a recombination
application.

» Zoning Administrator. Town official with responsibility for processing subdivision
and recombination applications and endorsing approvals.

(Definitions adapted from Odessa and Middletown model language and common
municipal codes.)

Section 3. Applicability / Scope

3.1. Applicability. This Ordinance applies to all lots or parcels wholly or partially within
the corporate limits of Townsend that:

a. Are part of a subdivision created by recorded plat; or



b. Were previously separated or re-subdivided by recorded instrument and are now
proposed to be recombined.

3.2. Exemptions. The following are not subject to the recombination process under this
Section:

a. Consolidations that result in a net increase in the number of building lots;

b. Divisions or consolidations that require new streets, rights-of-way dedication, or
construction of public improvements; or

c¢. Any action that would violate state law or recorded covenants that expressly prohibit
recombination.

(Scope and exemptions mirror local practice allowing administrative transfers where no
new lots or public improvements are required.)

Section 4. General Standards and Requirements

4.1. No Increase in Lot Count. A recombination shall not increase the total number of
independently buildable lots resulting from the affected parent parcels.

4.2. Compliance with Zoning. Resultant lot(s) after recombination must comply with all
applicable Townsend zoning district dimensional and use standards, or the applicant must
secure any variance/rezoning required prior to final endorsement.

4.3. Access and Ultilities. Each resulting lot must have legal access meeting Town
standards and acceptable water, sewer and stormwater arrangements as required by the
Town and any relevant county or utility authority.

4.4. No Landlocking. Recombination shall not create a landlocked parcel; reasonable
access must be preserved.

4.5. Environmental and Historic Resources. Recombination must not adversely affect
identified wetlands, floodplains, or designated historic resources. Where impacts are
possible, the Town may require studies or mitigation measures.

(These standards are consistent with the objective and design standard approach used by
Middletown and Smyrna for minor/administrative changes and Odessa’s subdivision
provisions.)



Section 5. Application, Review, and Approval

5.1. Application Required. The owner or authorized agent must submit a Recombination
Application to the Zoning Administrator on a form provided by the Town, together with:

a. A current deed for each affected parcel;
b. A tax map identification for each parcel;

c. A metes-and-bounds legal description and sketch or surveyed plat showing proposed

new boundaries (a licensed surveyor’s plat is required where survey monuments are
affected);

d. Any necessary approvals from Artesian/other utilities, county sewer authority, or state
agencies (if applicable); and

e. Application fee as established by the Town Council.

5.2. Completeness Review. The Zoning Administrator shall review the application for
completeness. Incomplete submissions will be returned with a notes list of required
corrections. (Process parallels Middletown and Smyrna checklists that list required plan
content before acceptance.)

5.3. Administrative vs. Planning Commission Review.

a. Administrative Recombination. Minor lot consolidations/recombinations that meet all
of the following shall be handled administratively by the Zoning Administrator and
recorded after approval: (1) no increase in lot count; (ii) no requirement for new public
improvements; (ii1) resulting lots meet zoning dimensional standards; and (iv) no
variances are required.

b. Planning Commission Approval. If the recombination does not meet the administrative
criteria (e.g., requires a variance, impacts public improvements, or raises policy issues),
the Planning Commission shall review and recommend action; Town Council shall be the
final approval authority where the Town’s code requires.

(This two-track approach is commonly used in nearby towns to expedite simple
recombinations while keeping complex matters before the Commission/Council.)



5.4. Review Timeframe. The Zoning Administrator shall act on a complete administrative
recombination application within thirty (30) calendar days of acceptance, or longer if the
applicant and Town agree in writing. (Where Planning Commission review is required,
the application will follow the Commission’s meeting schedule and public notice
requirements.)

5.5. Conditional Approvals; Recordation. Approved recombinations shall be endorsed on
the submitted plat or survey by the Zoning Administrator (or Chair of the Planning
Commission/Town Council as required), and the applicant shall record the endorsed plat
at the Recorder of Deeds. No building permit shall be issued on the recombined parcel
until the recombination is recorded. (Odessa and other Delaware towns require
endorsement and recording of recombination plats and prohibit building until
recordation.)

Section 6. Plat and Survey Requirements

6.1. Plat content: The recombination plat must include: lot lines and dimensions, bearings
and distances, total lot areas (square feet and acres), existing and proposed easements,
location of buildings (if any), block and lot references to prior recorded plats, stamp and
signature of a licensed surveyor, and appropriate certification language for approval and
endorsement by the Town.

6.2. Monumentation: The Town may require monumentation or setting of boundary
markers as a condition of recording.

(Checklist items follow Middletown and Smyrna plan/plat checklists.)

Section 7. Fees and Escrow

7.1. Fees. The Town Council shall adopt by resolution a fee schedule for recombination
applications, recording fees, municipal review costs, and any escrow deposits required for
outside technical review (engineers, attorneys) that may be necessary. The Applicant



shall reimburse the Town for costs incurred beyond standard review. (Consistent with
Odessa and Middletown practices.)

Section 8. Violations and Penalties

8.1. Prohibited Recording. It shall be unlawful to record any instrument that purports to
divide, merge, or otherwise alter lot boundaries in the Town without compliance with this
Ordinance. Any unapproved recorded plan is subject to nullification by court order on
application by the Town, and the person recording may be fined in accordance with
Town code. (Odessa makes recording unapproved plans unlawful and provides for
fines.)

Section 9. Effective Date and Severability

9.1. Effective Date. This Ordinance shall become effective upon adoption by the Town
Council and publication as required.

9.2. Severability. If any provision of this Ordinance is held invalid, such invalidity shall
not affect other provisions or applications of this Ordinance that can be given effect
without the invalid provision.

Sent from my iPhone



Kelsex Gallagher

From: James Reyes <jreyes@townsend.delaware.gov>
Sent: Tuesday, October 14, 2025 11:18 AM

To: Julie Goodyear

Subject: Townsend Ordinance for recombination

obviously not me =

But looking at surrounding areas. These are just thoughts with an info plugged into compoodur box &+ It
was neat

I modeled the structure and key provisions on how nearby Delaware towns handle
recombination, minor/administrative subdivisions, and recording (Middletown, Smyrna
and Odessa) so the draft fits local practice and typical legal expectations. I cite the local
examples I used so your town attorney / planner can compare language and adapt as
needed.

ORDINANCE NO.

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF TOWNSEND, DELAWARE

TO ESTABLISH STANDARDS, PROCEDURES, AND REQUIREMENTS FOR
REVERSE CONSOLIDATION (RECOMBINATION) OF RESIDENTIAL PARCELS

Section 1. Purpose and Authority

1.1. Purpose. The purpose of this Ordinance is to provide a clear, efficient and safe
procedure for the reverse consolidation (recombination) of residential lots and parcels
within the Town of Townsend. The ordinance is intended to: (a) allow the re-combination
of lots previously divided or recorded while protecting public health, safety and welfare;
(b) preserve orderly development and conformance with zoning and subdivision
standards; and (c) ensure accurate public records of land ownership and lot boundaries.

1



1.2. Authority. This Ordinance is adopted pursuant to the Town Charter and the authority
granted to the Town Council by the State of Delaware to regulate subdivision and
development of land.

(Modeled on standard municipal subdivision authority and statements used in
Middletown and Odessa ordinances.)

Section 2. Definitions

For this ordinance the following definitions apply:

« Consolidation / Recombination / Reverse Consolidation. The combining or re-
combining of two (2) or more previously subdivided and recorded lots or parcels
into one (1) or more resultant lots, provided the total number of lots is not increased
by the action and the action does not create additional building lots beyond what
the zoning and code permit. (Synonymous with “lot consolidation” or “lot
merger”.)

« Administrative Subdivision. Transfer of property between two adjacent lots not
creating a new building lot and not requiring new public improvements.

« Minor Subdivision. A subdivision or adjustment that meets the Town’s minor
subdivision criteria (small number of lots, no new streets or public improvements
required).

« Applicant. Owner of record or authorized agent submitting a recombination
application.

« Zoning Administrator. Town official with responsibility for processing subdivision
and recombination applications and endorsing approvals.

(Definitions adapted from Odessa and Middletown model language and common
municipal codes.)



Section 3. Applicability / Scope

3.1. Applicability. This Ordinance applies to all lots or parcels wholly or partially within
the corporate limits of Townsend that:

a. Are part of a subdivision created by recorded plat; or

b. Were previously separated or re-subdivided by recorded instrument and are now
proposed to be recombined.

3.2. Exemptions. The following are not subject to the recombination process under this
Section:

a. Consolidations that result in a net increase in the number of building lots;

b. Divisions or consolidations that require new streets, rights-of-way dedication, or
construction of public improvements; or

¢. Any action that would violate state law or recorded covenants that expressly prohibit
recombination.

(Scope and exemptions mirror local practice allowing administrative transfers where no
new lots or public improvements are required.)

Section 4. General Standards and Requirements

4.1. No Increase in Lot Count. A recombination shall not increase the total number of
independently buildable lots resulting from the affected parent parcels.

4.2. Compliance with Zoning. Resultant lot(s) after recombination must comply with all
applicable Townsend zoning district dimensional and use standards, or the applicant must
secure any variance/rezoning required prior to final endorsement.

4.3. Access and Utilities. Each resulting lot must have legal access meeting Town
standards and acceptable water, sewer and stormwater arrangements as required by the
Town and any relevant county or utility authority.

4.4. No Landlocking. Recombination shall not create a landlocked parcel; reasonable
access must be preserved.



4.5. Environmental and Historic Resources. Recombination must not adversely affect
identified wetlands, floodplains, or designated historic resources. Where impacts are
possible, the Town may require studies or mitigation measures.

(These standards are consistent with the objective and design standard approach used by
Middletown and Smyrna for minor/administrative changes and Odessa’s subdivision
provisions.)

Section 5. Application, Review, and Approval

5.1. Application Required. The owner or authorized agent must submit a Recombination
Application to the Zoning Administrator on a form provided by the Town, together with:

a. A current deed for each affected parcel;
b. A tax map identification for each parcel;

c. A metes-and-bounds legal description and sketch or surveyed plat showing proposed

new boundaries (a licensed surveyor’s plat is required where survey monuments are
affected);

d. Any necessary approvals from Artesian/other utilities, county sewer authority, or state
agencies (if applicable); and

e. Application fee as established by the Town Council.

5.2. Completeness Review. The Zoning Administrator shall review the application for
completeness. Incomplete submissions will be returned with a notes list of required
corrections. (Process parallels Middletown and Smyrna checklists that list required plan
content before acceptance.)

5.3. Administrative vs. Planning Commission Review.

a. Administrative Recombination. Minor lot consolidations/recombinations that meet all
of the following shall be handled administratively by the Zoning Administrator and
recorded after approval: (1) no increase in lot count; (i1) no requirement for new public
improvements; (ii1) resulting lots meet zoning dimensional standards; and (iv) no
variances are required.



b. Planning Commission Approval. If the recombination does not meet the administrative
criteria (e.g., requires a variance, impacts public improvements, or raises policy issues),
the Planning Commission shall review and recommend action; Town Council shall be the
final approval authority where the Town’s code requires.

(This two-track approach is commonly used in nearby towns to expedite simple
recombinations while keeping complex matters before the Commission/Council.)

5.4. Review Timeframe. The Zoning Administrator shall act on a complete administrative
recombination application within thirty (30) calendar days of acceptance, or longer if the
applicant and Town agree in writing. (Where Planning Commission review 1s required,
the application will follow the Commission’s meeting schedule and public notice
requirements.)

5.5. Conditional Approvals; Recordation. Approved recombinations shall be endorsed on
the submitted plat or survey by the Zoning Administrator (or Chair of the Planning
Commission/Town Council as required), and the applicant shall record the endorsed plat
at the Recorder of Deeds. No building permit shall be issued on the recombined parcel
until the recombination is recorded. (Odessa and other Delaware towns require
endorsement and recording of recombination plats and prohibit building until
recordation.)

Section 6. Plat and Survey Requirements

6.1. Plat content: The recombination plat must include: lot lines and dimensions, bearings
and distances, total lot areas (square feet and acres), existing and proposed easements,
location of buildings (if any), block and lot references to prior recorded plats, stamp and
signature of a licensed surveyor, and appropriate certification language for approval and
endorsement by the Town.

6.2. Monumentation: The Town may require monumentation or setting of boundary
markers as a condition of recording.

(Checklist items follow Middletown and Smyrna plan/plat checklists.)



Section 7. Fees and Escrow

7.1. Fees. The Town Council shall adopt by resolution a fee schedule for recombination
applications, recording fees, municipal review costs, and any escrow deposits required for
outside technical review (engineers, attorneys) that may be necessary. The Applicant
shall reimburse the Town for costs incurred beyond standard review. (Consistent with
Odessa and Middletown practices.)

Section 8. Violations and Penalties

8.1. Prohibited Recording. It shall be unlawful to record any instrument that purports to
divide, merge, or otherwise alter lot boundaries in the Town without compliance with this
Ordinance. Any unapproved recorded plan is subject to nullification by court order on
application by the Town, and the person recording may be fined in accordance with
Town code. (Odessa makes recording unapproved plans unlawful and provides for
fines.)

Section 9. Effective Date and Severability

9.1. Effective Date. This Ordinance shall become effective upon adoption by the Town
Council and publication as required.

9.2. Severability. If any provision of this Ordinance is held invalid, such invalidity shall
not affect other provisions or applications of this Ordinance that can be given effect
without the invalid provision.

Next steps and tailoring



1. I intentionally kept the language modular so Townsend can: (a) set its own review
fees and timeframes, (b) decide which recombinations the Zoning Administrator
may process administratively, and (c) add any local historic, stormwater, or
conservation conditions specific to Townsend.

2. I recommend the Town Attorney review the ordinance for statutory compliance
(Town Charter, 22 Del. C., Recorder of Deeds procedures) and that the Planning
Commission see a draft with a redline showing how the proposed administrative
thresholds (e.g., “no new public improvements”) compare with existing Townsend
practice.

Sent from my iPhone



